H. GREGORY MCNEILL, ESQUIRE

PETITIONERS FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY, SPECIALISTS, P.A. AND LAKE COUNTY ONCOLOGY & HEMATOLOGY, P.A.'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF NOTICE TO INVOKE DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

Florida Bar No. 0511080
Lowndes, Drosdick, Doster, Kantor & Reed, P.A.
215 North Eola Drive
Post Office Box 2809
Orlando, Florida 32802

and

THOMAS M. ERVIN, JR., ESQUIRE

Florida Bar No. 0107788 Ervin, Kitchen, Chapman & Ervin 223 South Gadsden Street Tallahassee, Florida 32302

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Rambabu Tummala, an oncologist, was hired in 1996 by Florida Hematology & Oncology Specialists, P.A. and Lake County Oncology & Hematology, P.A. (collectively the "Practice"). Tummala's Employment Agreement with the Practice contained a Restrictive Covenant as follows:

14. <u>Covenant Not to Compete</u>: Employee shall not, during the Employee's employment with the Corporation and for an additional period of two (2) years from and after the termination of Employee's employment with Corporation for any reasons engage, directly or indirectly, in the practice of medicine within an area comprised of a fifteen (15) mile radius [of] any office of the Corporation. The parties further acknowledge that the above restrictions with respect to duration and geographic limitations are reasonable, and that the Corporation would suffer irreparable injury as a result of the breach thereof by the Employee . . .

Tummala was assigned to the Practice's Leesburg, Florida office. Because Tummala had never lived nor worked in Lake County, Florida, and had no personal or business related connections to the Lake County medical community, Tummala's Employment Agreement required Tummala to develop and maintain the referral relationships the Practice enjoyed with physicians in the area:

> 5(e). In order to promote the practice of the Corporation and to enhance his professional standing in the community as an employee thereof, the <u>Employee shall be expected to entertain</u> <u>referring and potentially referring physicians</u>. Such practicerelated entertainment is hereby required specifically as a condition of employment. The Corporation will reimburse Employee, upon the furnishing of proper receipts, for such reasonable expenses connected therewith, as it may determine. (emphasis added)

Over the next eight (8) years, Tummala worked for the Practice and received referrals of oncology patients from no fewer than 18 referral physicians.¹

In late 2003 and early 2004, Tummala became dissatisfied with the administration of the Practice. When he was unable to convince another partner to leave with him, he announced that he planned to resign. The Practice thereafter terminated Tummala in accordance with his Employment Agreement.

Upon termination, Tummala almost immediately opened a competing oncology practice in Leesburg, Florida well within the 15 mile proscribed radius. The underlying litigation immediately ensued.

The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing upon the Practice's Motion for Temporary Injunction enforcing Tummala's Restrictive Covenant. The Practice presented evidence of Tummala's violation of the Restrictive Covenant and of at least 3 "legitimate business interests" justifying the Restrictive Covenant:

- 1. Relationships with existing patients;
- Its exclusive oncology practice agreement with Florida Hospital Waterman; and
- 3. Its referral relationships with area physicians.²

¹ It was undisputed at the hearing for temporary injunction that an oncology practice, like most specialty practices, depends primarily upon referrals from other doctors for its patients. In its opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal described these referral relationships as "perhaps [the Practice's] most crucial business interests." <u>See</u> Opinion at page 5.

² The conflict addressed by this Brief relates only to Petitioners' legitimate business interests in referral relationships.

After setting up his competing practice, Tummala admitted that he had continued to seek and accept referrals from the same physicians with whom he had developed relationships during his eight (8) years with the Practice. The Practice presented uncontradicted evidence to the trial court that referrals to the Practice from these same referral sources declined between 50% and 60% since Tummala began competing with the Practice within the prohibited 15 mile geographic radius.

Nevertheless, the trial court relied upon the First District Court of Appeals' holding in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees vs. Sanal</u>, 837 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) to refuse to enter injunctive relief protecting the Practice's referral relationships with area physicians; the injunction entered by the trial court only prohibited Tummala from rendering medical services to existing patients of the Practice but did not otherwise enjoin him from competing within the fifteen (15) mile radius.

The Practice took an appeal of the trial court's order primarily on the grounds that it had failed to enter injunctive relief to protect the Practice's legitimate business interest in its referral relationships with area physicians.

In its Opinion filed April 21, 2006, the Fifth District affirmed the trial court. In affirming the trial court's denial of injunctive relief to protect the referral relationships with area physicians, the court recognized that its Opinion conflicted with the Third District Court of Appeal's holding on the same issue. <u>See</u> Footnote 4 of the Opinion at page 6.

3

The Practice hereby files this Brief in support of the Notice to Invoke this Court's Discretionary Jurisdiction pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision, which refuses to recognize a medical practice's established referral relationships with referral physicians as a legitimate business interest justifying protection by restrictive covenant pursuant to Florida Statute 542.335(1)(b), directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal in <u>Southernmost Foot and Ankle Specialists</u>, <u>P.A. v. Torregrosa</u>, 891 So.2d 591 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004) and in <u>Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc. v. Nieves-Garcia</u>, 826 So.2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002); and directly and expressly conflicts with the decision of First District Court of Appeal in <u>Sanal</u>, <u>supra</u>.

ARGUMENT

In refusing to recognize the Practice's established referral relationships with area physicians as a "legitimate business interest" protectable by a restrictive covenant, the Fifth District expressly acknowledged that its holding conflicted with the Third District on the same issue:

> We recognize that this holding and the First District's opinion in <u>Sanal</u> appear to conflict with <u>Southernmost Foot and Ankle</u> <u>Specialists, P.A. vs. Torregrosa</u>, 891 So.2d 591, 593 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), in which the Third District upheld a trial judge's finding that Southernmost had legitimate business interests with regard to "its patient base, *referral doctors*, specific prospective

and existing patients, and patient goodwill." (emphasis in the original) <u>Id.</u>, at page 6.

Moreover, the Fifth District's holding also conflicts with the Third District's holding in <u>Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc. vs. Nieves-Garcia</u>, 826 So.2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) where the Third District reversed a trial court's failure to enjoin a former employee who is marketing her new employer's competing MRI services to the same referral physicians she previously called upon.

Finally, the Fifth District's holding conflicts with the First District Court of Appeal's holding in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees vs. Sanal</u>, 837 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) which affirmed a trial court's denial of injunctive relief against an oncologist, in part, because there was no evidence that the oncologist had sought or received referrals from physicians with whom he had a prior referral relationship.

Although the Fifth District refused to follow the Third District's precedent in <u>Southernmost</u>, it recognized that whether a referral relationship is a "legitimate business interest" pursuant to Florida Statute 542.335 is "admittedly problematic." Opinion at page 5. This is the case because while the Fifth District refused to protect them, it agreed that these referral relationships are the "most crucial business interest" for a specialist's medical practice. <u>Id.</u>, at page 5.

Nevertheless, unlike the Third District in <u>Southernmost</u>, the Fifth District refused to recognize relationships with referral doctors as a legitimate business interest, apparently believing that doing so would do violence to another statutory business interest:

What referring physicians supply is a stream of unidentified prospective patients with whom Appellants had no prior relationship. Therefore, to accept referring physicians as a statutory "legitimate business interest," would completely circumvent the clear statutory directive that "prospective" patients are not to be recognized as such . . . We see no way to recognize referring physicians as a legitimate business interest and still give effect to the plain language of the Statute. <u>Id.</u>, at pages 5, 6.

By contrast, the Third District did not interpret Florida Statute 542.335 to preclude recognizing these crucial referral relationships as legitimate business interests. In <u>Southernmost</u>, the trial court entered an injunction in favor of a specialty medical practice (podiatry) based, in part, upon protecting that practice's relationships with referral doctors:

> In the instant case, Southernmost's principals testified in detail about they developed their medical podiatry practice in the Keys over a period of 20 years. They also testified about how they hired Dr. Torregrosa when he had just finished his hospital training and how they put him into business. The trial court properly found that this testimony established a *prima facie* case that the restrictive covenant was reasonably necessary to protect Southernmost's legitimate business interest in its patient base, <u>referral doctors</u>, specific prospective and existing patients, and patient goodwill. (emphasis added) <u>Id.</u>, at page 594.

The Fifth District's decision also conflicts with the Third District's holding in <u>Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc., supra</u>. In that case, the Third District recognized and protected referral relationships despite the fact that those relationships provide the business with "unidentified" prospective clients, customers or patients. Nieves-Garcia was employed by Open Magnetic Imaging, Inc. ("OMI") and executed a restrictive covenant. Her job title was "Physician Relations Representative," responsible for marketing OMI's MRI services to area physicians to induce the physicians to refer their patients to OMI.

Nieves-Garcia subsequently left and began working for a competitor of OMI's and was "responsible for marketing MRI services to area physicians, <u>including those who refer patients to OMI</u>." (emphasis added) <u>Id.</u>, at page 416.

In reversing the trial court's failure to enjoin Nieves-Garcia, the Third District stated:

OMI's marketing representatives, including Nieves-Garcia, were trained to market OMI's services to area doctors, primarily orthopedics and neurologists. As part of their job, marketing representatives were expected to compile a database on these physicians which contained the nature and idiosyncrasies of their practices, as well as information as to their referral patterns and preferences and which insurance they accepted. There was evidence that OMI had created this database system as part of its confidential strategic marketing plan. Contrary to the assertions made by Nieves-Garcia, we find this to be a legitimate business interest entitled to protection under Section 542.335. <u>Id.</u>, at page 419.

Thus, the Third District found that Nieves-Garcia had marketed OMI's services to referral physicians, developing a database of the referral sources and their "referral patterns." In her new position, she was again marketing to the same referral physicians. The Third District held that under these facts, OMI had "a legitimate business interest entitled to protection under Section 542.335." <u>Id.</u>, at page 419.³

³ It cannot be argued that what the Third District was protecting was simply the confidential "database system" reflecting compiled information about referral sources. By definition, if the referral sources themselves are not a legitimate

Ironically, the Fifth District's decision also conflicts with <u>Sanal</u>, despite the court's reliance upon it. In <u>Sanal</u>, the First District, in affirming the trial court's refusal to grant an injunction against Dr. Sanal, expressly noted that there was <u>no</u> evidence that he had sought or received referrals from Plaintiff's referral sources:

In fact, it was undisputed that Dr. Sanal <u>had treated only</u> <u>established patients</u> of Jacksonville Oncology Group or <u>new</u> <u>patients referred</u> to the Group <u>under the name of a senior</u> <u>member</u> of the Group. (emphasis added) <u>Id.</u>, at page 514.

Obviously, if the <u>Sanal</u> court had believed that referral sources did not qualify for protection under Florida Statute 542.335, then there would have been no reason to address the <u>lack of evidence of such referrals</u> in its decision. Thus, while <u>Sanal</u> does stand for the proposition that a legitimate business interest in "prospective patients" must be with a "particular, identifiable, individual" in order to be recognized as a legitimate business interest, the holding in <u>Sanal</u> provides no support for the Fifth District's conclusion that relationships with referral doctors cannot constitute legitimate business interests under the statute.⁴ The Fifth District's logic appears to be that it is impossible to protect relationships with referral physicians and still follow <u>Sanal</u>'s holding that prospective patients be

business interest worthy of protection under Section 542.335, there is no corresponding reason to protect otherwise confidential information about these referral sources. If the referral sources themselves do not justify protection by a restrictive covenant, it stands to reason that information regarding those referral sources and their referral patterns are even less worthy of protection.

⁴ As this Court is aware, Florida Statute 542.335(b) expressly does not limit the legitimate business interests which may justify a restrictive covenant to only those enumerated in the Statute: "The term 'legitimate business interest' includes, but is not limited to . . ."

"specifically identifiable" in order to constitute a legitimate business interest. But as noted hereinabove, the Third District in <u>Southernmost</u> and <u>Open Magnetic</u> <u>Imaging, Inc.</u> have done exactly that.

In fact, enjoining Tummala from seeking and accepting referrals from the same referral sources would not have precluded him from providing oncology services to the "unknown prospective patients" <u>Sanal</u> was concerned with, so long as these patients were not the result of a prohibited referral. Such a result would have recognized and protected the Practice's legitimate business interests while permitting Tummala to provide services to prospective patients.

The Fifth District's overly narrow interpretation of Florida Statute 542.335 ignores the plain language of the Statute which, noted above, makes clear that the enumerated list of statutory legitimate business interests is not exclusive.

The impact of its ruling will be widespread. The inability of a medical specialty practice to protect its referral relationships will have a negative impact upon the recruitment and hiring of specialists. Moreover, referral relationships are not just crucial business interests for medical specialists. Any business or occupation which expends "effort, money and energy to cultivate referral relationships" cannot, under this holding, protect those relationships by restrictive covenant. Opinion at page 5.⁵

⁵ In *dicta*, the Fifth District questions whether any referral physicians with whom Tummala worked would still refer to the Practice now that he is gone. <u>Id.</u>, at page 6. The Fifth District must have overlooked the uncontroverted evidence presented to the trial court that while the Practice had suffered a 50-60% decline

CONCLUSION

Relationships with referral physicians are the most critical business interest of a specialty medical practice. Despite acknowledging that fact, the Fifth District refused to follow the Third District's rulings in <u>Southernmost</u> and <u>Open Magnetic</u> <u>Imaging, Inc.</u>, and ignored the emphasis placed upon these relationships by the First District in <u>Sanal</u>.

This Court should accept jurisdiction and resolve this conflict among the District Courts of Appeal.

H. GREGORY MCNEILL, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 0511080
Lowndes, Drosdick, Doster, Kantor & Reed, P.A.
215 North Eola Drive
Post Office Box 2809
Orlando, Florida 32802
Telephone: (407) 843-4600

in referrals from 18 referral physicians, most of those physicians still referred some patients to the Practice <u>despite</u> Tummala's departure.

and

Thomas M. Ervin, Jr., Esquire

Florida Bar No. 0107788 Ervin, Kitchen, Chapman & Ervin 223 South Gadsden Street Tallahassee, Florida 32302

Attorneys for Petitioners