### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY SPECIALISTS, P.A., a Florida professional association, LAKE COUNTY ONCOLOGY & HEMATOLOGY, P.A., a Florida professional association and ROY M. AMBINDER, M.D.,

Petitioners,

v. Case No. SC06-993

RAMBABU TUMMALA, M.D.,

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Review from the District Court of Appeal,
Fifth District
State of Florida

### THE CARLYLE APPELLATE LAW FIRM

La Grande Professional Center 20 La Grande Boulevard The Villages, Florida 32159 Telephone (352) 259-8852 Facsimile (352) 259-8842

CHRISTOPHER V. CARLYLE Florida Bar No. 991007

**SHANNON McLIN CARLYLE** Florida Bar No. 988367

### INTRODUCTION

The Petitioners, ROY M. AMBINDER, M.D., FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY SPECIALISTS, P.A., and LAKE COUNTY ONCOLOGY & HEMATOLOGY, P.A. will be collectively referred to as the "Petitioners." The Respondent, RAMBABU TUMMALA, M.D., will be referred to as "Tummala."

Citations to the Petitioners' Brief in Support of Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction shall be referred to as (Petitioners' Brief, at \_\_\_\_\_) with the appropriate page number inserted. References to the Fifth District Court of Appeal's Opinion in FLORIDA HEMATOLOGY & ONCOLOGY SPECIALISTS, P.A., ET. AL. v. RAMBABU TUMMULA, M.D., ET. AL. filed April 21, 2006, shall be referred to as "the Opinion, at \_\_\_\_\_", with the appropriate page number inserted.

### SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Tummala relies on and incorporates the facts set forth in the Opinion at page 1 through 3. A brief seeking discretionary review must be "limited solely to the issue of the supreme court's jurisdiction," and must be "accompanied by an appendix containing only a conformed copy of the decision of the district court." Fla. R. App. 9.120(d). The Petitioners' jurisdictional brief violates these limitations by referencing the record proper, and without even providing record citations in support. In this brief, Tummala will address only those matters appearing within the four corners of the Fifth District's published Opinion — not the parties' merits briefs in the District Court, and not the purported "undisputed" facts the Petitioners assert.

Three points set forth in the Petitioners' Statement of the Case and Facts require clarification. First, the Petitioners suggest that Tummala became "dissatisfied" with the practice, and tried to convince another partner to leave with him. Petitioners' Brief, at 2. However, the Opinion establishes that Tummala was concerned with some of the Petitioners' billing practices, voiced those concerns, and they were not resolved to his satisfaction. Subsequently, the Petitioners terminated Tummala without cause. Opinion, at 2.

Secondly, the Petitioners suggest that they presented "uncontroverted evidence" that business from certain referral sources declined after Tummala's departure. Petitioners' Brief, at 3. The Opinion notes that all of the referring physicians who testified at the hearing indicated that they make the referrals not to a practice, but to an individual doctor. Opinion, at 6. The court went on to note:

Accordingly, they previously sent patients to Appellants' office only because that is where Dr. Tummala practiced. Now that he is gone, they testified that they would not longer refer their patients to the Appellant's office even if Dr. Tummala no longer practiced anywhere in Central Florida.

Opinion, at 6 (emphasis in original). The Opinion also noted:

Interestingly, despite the alleged dramatic decrease in new business, the quarterly bonus received by each doctor employed by the corporate Appellants increased from \$324,000 during the last quarter of Tummala's employment to \$1,082,000 per physician in the quarter immediately after Tummala's departure.

Opinion, at 3, n.2.

Finally, the Petitioners state that the Fifth District Court of Appeal "recognized that its Opinion conflicted with the Third District Court of Appeal's holding on the same issue. See Footnote 4 of the Opinion at page 6." Petitioners' Brief, at 3. However, the Fifth District stated that the Opinion as well as

the First District's Opinion in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees v. Sanal</u>, 837 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) "appear" to conflict with <u>Southernmost Foot and Ankle Specialists, P.A. v. Torregrosa</u>, 891 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004). Thus, the Opinion did not specifically find conflict, but rather noted the appearance of a conflict. Further, the Fifth District Court of Appeal did not certify the alleged conflict, nor did the Petitioners seek such certification.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review District Court of Appeal decisions that expressly and directly conflict with the decisions of another District Court of Appeal. In this case, the Petitioners claim that the Opinion below conflicts with three other District Court of Appeal decisions. However, the alleged conflicts are not express and direct, and therefore this Court lacks jurisdiction.

Even if this Court finds that is has jurisdiction, it should nevertheless decline to exercise such jurisdiction. in this matter. The Opinion in this case, as well as the First District Court of Appeal's Opinion in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees v. Sanal</u>, 837 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) recognized that the relevant statute requires that prospective

patients be "specific." Because the referring physicians cannot specifically identify patients that they might refer in the future, the relationships with the referring doctors does not constitute a legitimate business interest under the statute. The clear holdings of the Opinion in this matter as well as <a href="Sanal">Sanal</a> do not require additional clarification to distinguish them from the dicta cited by the Petitioners.

### ARGUMENT

# I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION BECAUSE NO EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS.

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review district court of appeal decisions that "expressly and directly conflict[] with the decision of another district court of appeal or the supreme court on the same question of law." Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv)(emphasis added). The words "express and direct" must be given meaning, and it is not enough to suggest that a potential conflict exists. To be "express", the conflict must be present "in an express manner." Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980). As Judge Padavano states, "it is not enough to show that the district court decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decisions. By definition, the term 'expressly' requires some written representation or

expression of the legal ground supporting the decision under review." Philip J. Padavano, <u>Florida Appellate Practice</u>, § 3.10 (2006 ed.)(citing <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); <u>Times Publishing Co. v. Russell</u>, 615 So. 2d 158 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> denied, 510 U.S. 943, (U.S. 1993)).

The Petitioners cite three opinions which they contend are in express and direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in this case. However, a review of those cases demonstrates that no express and direct conflict exists, and therefore this Court lacks jurisdiction.

The first case the Petitioners rely upon is <u>Southernmost</u>

Foot and Ankle Specialists, P.A. v. Torregrosa, 891 So. 2d 591

(Fla. 3d DCA 2004), rev. dismissed, 901 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2005).

The claimed conflict with <u>Southernmost</u> consists of two words.

The <u>Southernmost</u> court found that the physician group seeking to enforce a restrictive covenant had established five separate legitimate business interests, including "referral doctors."

Id. at 594. The opinion does not explain why it found this to be so, and indeed there is no analysis whatsoever concerning this purported legitimate business interest. Id. It is clear that if those two words, "referral doctors," were absent from the opinion, then no potential basis for conflict would exist. The inclusion of those two words, without any other explanation

whatsoever, cannot be said to create a conflict "in an express manner" as Jenkins requires.

The Fifth District's opinion in this matter did include a brief reference in a footnote to <u>Southernmost</u> where the court recognized that the opinion, as well as the opinion of the First District in <u>University of Florida Board of Trustees v. Sanal</u>, 837 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) "appear" to conflict with <u>Southernmost</u>. Opinion, at 6, n.4. However, it would also appear that the Fifth District did not believe the conflict rose to the level of being express and direct because the court did not certify conflict. Further, the Petitioners did not request the Fifth District to certify conflict with <u>Southernmost</u>. While the opinion might arguably "appear" to conflict, it by no means rises to the level of an express and direct conflict necessary for this Court's jurisdiction to vest.

Next, the Petitioners cite <u>Open Magnetic Imaging</u>, Inc. v. <u>Nieves-Garcia</u>, 826 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). In <u>Nieves-Garcia</u>, a marketing director (not a physician) for a group of magnetic resonance imagining (MRI) centers left the business to work for a competitor. However, at the prior job, the employee was

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm I}\underline{\text{Nieves-Garcia}}$  was not mentioned by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case.

expected to compile a <u>database</u> on these physicians which contained the nature and idiosyncrasies of their practices, as well as information as to their referral patterns and preferences and which insurance they accepted. There was evidence that OMI had created this <u>database system</u> as part of its confidential strategic marketing plan.

Id. at 419 (emphasis added). While the Petitioners cite this language in their jurisdictional brief as creating a basis for jurisdiction, they neglect to provide the citations which immediately follow this quote. The Third District cited four cases, all of which concerned a purported legitimate business interest in customer lists which were claimed to be trade secrets. See Id. at 419. Thus, it is clear that the database materials created by the marketing representative in Nieves—Garcia were found by the Third District to be trade secrets that rose to the level of legitimate business interests. In the present case, the Petitioners did not plead any legitimate business interest concerning trade secrets, and therefore Nieves—Garcia does not expressly and directly conflict with the opinion in this matter.

Finally, the Petitioners claim that the opinion conflicts with University of Florida Board of Trustees v. Sanal, 837 So.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>East v. Aqua Gaming, Inc., 805 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); Sethscot Collection, Inc., v. Drbul, 669 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996); Unistar Corp. v. Child, 415 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Erik Elec. Co., Inc. v. Elliott, 375 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

2d 512 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003), a case extensively cited by the Fifth District as support for its decision. Once again, a review of the Petitioners' argument concerning this case reveals that in no way could any possible conflict be "express and direct." Sanal opinion does not mention referring physicians, therefore there can be no express or direct conflict. Despite this, the Petitioners argue it is "obvious" that "if the Sanal court had believed that referral sources did not qualify for protection under Florida Statute 542.335, then there would have been no reason to address the lack of evidence of such referrals in this decision." Petitioners' Brief, at 8 (emphasis in original). The Petitioners are therefore asking this Court not to examine the language found in Sanal, but rather to divine the First District Court of Appeal's intention and infer why it chose to write the opinion in the manner that it did. not express and direct conflict, and therefore jurisdiction is lacking.

# II. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE CONTROLLING STATUTE IS CLEAR.

Even if this Court believes it may exercise jurisdiction, it should decline to do so. The lengthy and well-reasoned opinions in <u>Sanal</u> and this case reach the same conclusion concerning the specific issue involved: Florida Statutes

section 542.335(1)(b)(3) requires that a legitimate business interest may only arise concerning "specific prospective patients." Sanal, 837 So. 2d 515-16. As the Fifth District stated in this case, relying on Sanal, "a 'relationship' with a 'prospective patient' must be substantial and one with a specific identifiable individual and the lack of such a relationship with a patient does not become a legitimate business interest simply by virtue of being referred by a physician." Opinion, at 5. Quite simply, as the Fifth District stated:

What referring physicians supply is a stream of unidentified prospective patients with whom Appellants had no prior relationship. Therefore, to accept referring physicians as a statutory 'legitimate business interest,' would completely circumvent the clear statutory directive that 'prospective patients' are not to be recognized as such.

Opinion, at 5.

The detailed opinion in <u>Sanal</u> and this case rely on the clear language of the statute, and are in agreement. The language of section 542.335(1)(b)(3) cannot be ignored by inserting a "middleman" into the equation, that being the doctors who might, possibly, refer certain unknown patients in the future. Should the Legislature see this issue differently, it is its prerogative to modify the statute. <u>See Dutch v. Palm Beach Bridge Dist.</u>, 84 Fla. 504, 94 So. 155 (Fla. 1922)(it is

not the function of the courts to encroach on the legislature by addition to, subtracting from, or amplifying unambiguous statute). The statute needs no further clarification beyond that which appears in <u>Sanal</u> and this case. The dicta which appears in the cases cited by the Petitioners in no way require clarification in light of the clear reasoning found in <u>Sanal</u> and this case.

### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for all the foregoing reasons, this Court should find that it lacks jurisdiction because there is not an express and direct conflict; alternatively, this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction because the controlling statute is clear.